FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
1/16/2019 3:57 PM

96779-2

Supreme Court No. \_\_\_\_\_ COA No. 76518-3-I

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

DAVID PHILLIPS,

Petitioner.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF KING COUNTY

The Honorable Johanna Bender

PETITION FOR REVIEW

OLIVER R. DAVIS Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

## **

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER
B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION
C. ISSUES PRESENTED ON REVIEW
D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE
E. ARGUMENT
1. The trial court wrongly permitted Juror 10 to sit on the jury, after he said he had deep reservations about whether he could be fair considering his emotional belief that (1) black men are violent and that (2) violent people attempt to escape punishment, which required removal, particularly in this trial for (1) assault and (2) tampering with a witness
(a). <i>Voir dire</i> and revelation of feelings of emotional bias
(b). The defendant's right to a fair jury required <i>sua sponte</i> removal of Juror 10, and contrary to the Court of Appeals, it is irrelevant that the defendant in <i>Irby</i> was not present during voir dire, because courts do not step in to act on behalf of defendants who chose to represent themselves and then chose to leave the courtroom.
(c). <u>State v. Irby</u> and <u>Hughes v. United States</u> establish that a juror whose bias is deeply rooted and only marginally diluted by an expressed desire to decide the case properly, must be removed
(d). The present case is more egregious than <i>Irby</i> , because Juror 10 was seated after making statements expressing apparent racial bias going directly to the two charges and the facts of this case, with little
countervailing indication of an ability to be fair 8
(i). This case and <u>Irby</u> both involved a juror that the defendant declined to strike, which was no obstacle to the <u>Irby</u> Court's decision to find that the trial court had a duty to ensure an impartial
jury

(ii). This Court must intervene and reverse
2. The court abused its discretion in admitting Ms. Phillips' <u>Smith</u> affidavit in which she said she was punched and choked, where she testified she was wrongfully assaulted and merely could not recall these precise details, and where she disavowed the truth and reliability of the statement the police claimed to have accurately taken from her 11
(a). At trial, counsel fought the admission of the Smith affidavit on
several bases
(b). The court abused its discretion in admitting the <i>Smith</i> affidavit where Ms. Phillips merely testified that she could not remember actual choking, and where the circumstances showed the affidavit was not her words
(i). However, first, there was an inadequate showing of
criteria (2), trustworthiness and reliability
(ii). Second, actual inconsistency is not established simply by the witness's failure to remember details of the crime that the State desires so it can prove a certain higher degree
(c). The error requires reversal
F. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

## **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

## WASHINGTON CASES

<u>State v. Brett</u> , 126 Wn.2d 136, 892 P.2d 29 (1995), <u>cert. denied</u> , 516 U.S. 1121, 116 S.Ct. 931, 133 L.Ed.2d 858 (1996)
State v. C.J., 148 Wn.2d 672, 63 P.3d 765 (2003)
<u>State v. Davis</u> , 175 Wn.2d 287, 290 P.3d 43 (2012), <u>cert. denied</u> , U.S, 134 S.Ct. 62, 187 L.Ed.2d 51 (2013)
State v. Halstien, 122 Wn.2d 109, 857 P.2d 270 (1993)
<u>State v. Irby</u> , 187 Wn. App. 183, 347 P.3d 1103 (2015); <u>review denied</u> , 184 Wn.2d 1036 (2016)
<u>In re Gentry</u> , 179 Wn. 2d 614, 316 P.3d 1020 (2014)
State v. Monday, 171 Wn.2d 667, 257 P.3d 551 (2011)
State v. Nelson, 74 Wn. App. 380, 874 P.2d 170 (1994)
State v. Newbern, 95 Wn. App. 277, 975 P.2d 1041 (1999)
State v. Nieto, 119 Wn. App. 157, 79 P.3d 473 (2003) 14,20
State v. Smith, 97 Wn.2d 856, 651 P.2d 207 (1982)
State v. Sublett, 176 Wn. 2d 58, 292 P.3d 715 (2012)
State v. Thach, 126 Wn. App. 297, 106 P.3d 782 (2005)
<u>In re Personal Restraint of Yates</u> , 177 Wn.2d 1, 296 P.3d 872 (2013) 12
UNITED STATES SUPREME COURT CASES
<u>Taylor v. Louisiana</u> , 419 U.S. 522, 95 S.Ct. 692, 42 L.Ed.2d 690 (1975)

<u>Troxel v. Granville</u> , 530 U.S. 57, 120 S. Ct. 2054, 147 L. Ed. 2d 49 (2000)
CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS
U.S. Const. amend. VI
U.S. Const. amend XIV
UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS CASES
<u>Hughes v. United States</u> , 258 F.3d 453 (6th Cir.2001)
<u>United States v. Palumbo</u> , 639 F.2d 123 (3d Cir. 1991) 18,19
TREATISES
D. Louisell & C. Mueller, <u>FEDERAL EVIDENCE</u> (1980)
Karl B. Tegland, <u>Washington Practice</u> , Evidence (5th ed.1989) 18
STATUTES AND COURT RULES
Laws of 2007, ch. 79, § 1
RCW 9A.36.021(1)(g)
RCW 10.73.160(1)
ER 801(d)(1)(i)

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

David Phillips was the appellant in COA No. 76518-3-I (Appx. A).

#### **B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION**

Petitioner seeks review of the decision of December 17, 2018.

#### C. ISSUES PRESENTED ON REVIEW

- 1. Juror 10 expressed prejudice against African-American men, who he said committed violent crimes and then tried to evade punishment. Although the juror regretted his beliefs, and said he was comfortable being on a jury, Mr. Phillips was charged with assault, and with tampering with a witness (the alleged Caucasian victim), two crimes that precisely paralleled the juror's racial biases. Did the court err and violate the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments when it did not *sua sponte* strike Juror 10?
- 2. Did the court err under ER 801(d)(1)(i) when it admitted Sara Phillips' "Smith affidavit" stating that the defendant had choked her, where the statement and testimony were not inconsistent, and where criteria (2) of Smith reliability or trustworthiness was not satisfied?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

David Phillips' jury found him guilty of second degree assault by strangulation of his wife, Sara Phillips and he was sentenced to ten years imprisonment. CP 246-49, 261. The charge stemmed from a domestic fight in their home. CP 1, 110, 216. The complainant's daughter

witnessed the fight and called 911, but never stated that Mr. Phillips ever had his hands on her mother's neck, nor did she say that he choked her.

See CP 3 (affidavit of probable cause); 10/20/16RP at 735-49; 10/25/16RP at 974-75. Ms. Phillips testified that she and Mr. Phillips were tussling, and Mr. Phillips assaulted her, although he did not "sock" her in her face.

Ms. Phillips also testified she did *not* recall that Mr. Phillips actually choked her. 10/18/16RP at 464.

However, a deputy wrote a statement claimed to be taken accurately from Ms. Phillips, supposedly saying the defendant had punched and choked her. Despite their being no real inconsistency between her trial testimony and the statement, the document – which supported the prosecution's effort to seek conviction on a *higher degree* of assault - was admitted for substantive purposes under ER 801(d)(1)(i) (as a "Smith affidavit"). 10/19/16RP at 527-30. The court admitted it even though Phillips disavowed it, saying it was "not her words." See infra. Phillips also orally told a paramedic that Mr. Phillips had choked her, and that she had neck pain. 10/19/16RP at 623-25. The defense argued that Ms. Phillips' claim that her husband tried to choke her was made in the heat of the moment because he had come home late, and, as she affirmed during trial, she was certain her husband was being unfaithful. 10/25/16RP at 973, 984; 10/19/16RP at 512; 10/20/16RP at 748.

#### E. ARGUMENT

1. The trial court wrongly permitted Juror 10 to sit on the jury, after he said he had deep reservations about whether he could be fair considering his emotional belief that (1) black men are violent and that (2) violent people attempt to escape punishment, which required removal, particularly in this trial for (1) assault and (2) tampering with a witness.

Review of this issue is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(3) because the issue of a right to an unbiased, non-prejudiced jury is a significant constitutional question. <u>See State v. Irby</u>, 187 Wn. App. 183, 193, 347 P.3d 1103 (2015); U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV.

#### (a). Voir dire and revelation of feelings of emotional bias.

During *voir dire*, Juror 10 stated that he was concerned that he lacked confidence in his ability to shed himself of an emotion-based belief, from past negative experiences, that black men are violent and violent people try to escape punishment. Juror 10 stated during *voir dire* that he and close relatives of his had indirect, and direct experiences of physical violence and long-term relationships of domestic abuse. 10/18/16RP at 321-22. He stated this was an emotional issue, and it weighed on him heavily as to whether he could be fair and hold the State to its burden of proof. 10/18/16RP at 322-23. Subsequently, juror 10 contributed to the discussion when the prosecutor asked jurors how they felt about a criminal case going forward "in direct opposition to what the victim wants."

#### 10/18/16RP at 362. Juror 10 stated:

It's striking. It's like an ethical dilemma from high school, because tragedy has occurred and the victim continues to be traumatized by the playing out of justice, if you will. I think I would want to understand under what conditions and based on what discretion would the State choose to do that.

10/18/16RP at 362. However, most significantly, when later speaking privately in the courtroom, Juror 10 revealed details of past experiences that seemed to indicate he specifically could not be fair under the particular facts of this case, where a black defendant was charged with assault, and with tampering with a witness.

Okay. So it was [sic] personal experience in college during a basketball game. Our team won suddenly and surprisingly. We were playing for the Intramural Championship for the University of Washington against the University of Washington football team. Not the team itself, but a team that was comprised of football players. They were all black men, and after the game one of the men assaulted me. It was a minor occurrence and nothing came of it, but it was very traumatic at the time. There were a lot of emotions and they were upset that they had lost because we'd been banging them all game long, and this guy just came up and just shoved his form [sic] in my throat very suddenly and unexpectedly. Again, nothing came of it, but it left an emotional imprint that I would be lying if I didn't admit lives as an emotional imprint. And this is an emotional truth.

I don't live this way; I don't believe this; but I'm also aware that feelings happen in reality that black men are more prone to violence. It was also notable that afterwards when, you know, the gym supervisor was called and there was just a huddle on the spot, and then, of course there was denial and, you know, dismissiveness of it.

And that's another narrative; that those who are violent try to get out of it; so those are two personal emotions imprints that are there, as well.

10/18/16RP at 373-74. Juror 10 stated he believed he could be fair, but said he did not know how these emotions would affect his ability to be so.

So I've got those emotional truths on one hand. On the other hand, I trained as a scientist and I hold it as a personal principle to be fair and objective, and I do believe that I could hear and see what happens in this trial fairly and objectively. What I don't know is what the life of those emotional truths will have when push comes to shove, so I feel I owe it to the alleged and to this Court for you all to know that.

10/18/16RP at 375. When asked if these biases would prevent him from holding the State to its burden, the juror responded with a relatively vague "I don't think so." 10/18/16RP at 376. Then, when questioned by counsel as to whether he could decide the case despite the racial emotions he had, Juror 10 answered with ambiguity, and primarily in the negative:

MR. ANDREWS: Do you think you're going to be able to set those aside during the course of this trial and focus just on the evidence that you hear in this case or are you going to be kind of taken back to some of those more personal moment and get distracted by that?

JUROR NO. 10: Well, that's the crux of the matter. I want to believe that I can and I will. This is deeply emotional and unprecedented by anything, so the depth that I have is not knowing what will unfold here and what will it invoke in me. But yeah.

10/18/16RP at 380. As the Court of Appeals emphasizes, Juror 10 did also answer, "Absolutely," when he was asked whether he was "comfortable" taking the oath of a juror to decide based on the evidence,

and said he would try to hold himself to it. 10/18/16RP at 381; see

Decision, at p. 6. This was not enough. Juror 10 appeared willing to
make this attempt, but in an immediately previous question, he had been
asked whether he would want a juror like him to sit on his case if he were
ever accused. Tellingly, he answered with ambiguity, stating he would
want a jury with an intent to be fair, but that he knew that "emotions
inevitably play into who we are as humans." 10/18/16RP at 380-81.

Counsel did not challenge Juror 10, or dismiss him during peremptories. The court did not itself act to excuse Juror 10. In this trial for assault of a white woman by her black husband, these circumstances violated the right to a fair jury, and must be remedied by this Court.

removal of Juror 10, and contrary to the Court of Appeals, it is irrelevant that the defendant in *Irby* was not present during voir dire, because courts do not step in to act on behalf of defendants who chose to represent themselves and then chose to leave the courtroom. The Irby case, therefore, cannot be distinguished from this case on that basis. Mr. Phillips, a black defendant, was charged with alleged assault of a white woman, and with attempting to tamper with Ms. Phillips as a witness. Juror 10 had specifically said the specific nature of his emotional bias was (1) black men are violent, and also that (2) violent people try to

evade responsibility for their violence. He should have been removed *sua sponte* under the court's authority to excuse jurors under RCW 2.36.110 and CrR 6.4(c)(1), because defendants have a right to a fair, and impartial jury. Taylor v. Louisiana, 419 U.S. 522, 526, 95 S.Ct. 692, 42 L.Ed.2d 690 (1975); State v. Davis, 175 Wn.2d 287, 312, 290 P.3d 43 (2012); U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV. A trial judge has an independent obligation to protect the right regardless of inaction of counsel. Irby, 187 Wn. App. at 193; Hughes v. United States, 258 F.3d 453, 464 (6th Cir.2001).

juror whose bias is deeply rooted and only marginally diluted by an expressed desire to decide the case properly, must be removed. In Irby, the defendant chose to represent himself, and then also voluntarily absented himself from trial before voir dire commenced, stating he did not believe he could obtain a fair trial. Irby, 187 Wn. App. at 190. During subsequent jury selection, the court posed a general question designed to elicit potential bias of the *venire* of jurors:

We all have our own perceptions of how things should or ought to be. We acknowledge that all humans are different. The point is could we put aside our personal experiences and sit in judgment as a juror and give both Mr. Irby and the State of Washington a fair trial on a level playing field. That's our purpose of these questions. Now, that being the case does anybody have anything in their past or anything on their mind that you think 'wow,' this just might not be the case for me. I'm not sure I can do this based on the circumstances.

<u>Irby</u>, 187 Wn. App. at 190. In response, juror 38 raised her hand, leading to the following exchange in which the juror stated her pre-disposition toward finding the defendant guilty, and the reason for that predisposition:

JUROR NO. 38: I'm a little concerned because I did work for the government, Child Protective Services, I'm more inclined towards the prosecution I guess.

THE COURT: Would that impact your ability to be a fair and impartial juror? Do you think you could listen to both sides, listen to the whole story so to speak?

JUROR NO. 38: I would like to say he's guilty.

<u>Irby</u>, 187 Wn. App. at 190. The defense (i.e., Irby acting as counsel but having voluntarily absented himself from the courtroom), by definition *declined to exercise its right to any challenges or peremptory dismissals directed toward this juror*, just like counsel in this case. <u>Irby</u>, at 192.

Nevertheless, the Court of Appeals held for Irby, because the right to an unbiased jury is constitutional and the fact of seating of a biased juror is manifest error. <u>Irby</u>, at 190, <u>supra</u>; <u>Hughes v. United States</u>, 258 F.3d at 454-59, 464 (regarding actual seating).

(d). The present case is more egregious than *Irby*, because

Juror 10 was seated after making statements expressing apparent

racial bias going directly to the two charges and the facts of this case,

with little countervailing indication of an ability to be fair.

By not dismissing Juror 10, the trial court failed in its responsibility to

preside over a trial free from invidious racial overtones. Although it is true that the jury selection process is designed to reveal jurors who may have difficulty being fair, and that parties want jurors to speak candidly so that this process can be effectuated, Juror 10's admissions, followed by his service on the jury, injected concepts of racial prejudice into the perpetual record of a Washington jury trial, which must be declared intolerable.

(i). This case and <u>Irby</u> both involved a juror that the defendant declined to strike, which was no obstacle to the <u>Irby</u> Court's decision to find that the trial court had a duty to ensure an impartial jury.

In <u>Irby</u> the Court found manifest constitutional error in the trial court's failure to remove juror 38, who expressed actual bias in favor of the prosecution generally. The <u>Irby</u> Court found such error, and reversed, even though the crime charged had no specific relationship to the juror's source of bias of being an advocate for children as a former CPS employee, except that she had therefore worked for the government. Here, in Mr. Phillips' case, Juror 10 firmly stated he carried an emotional belief that black men are violent and violent people try to escape punishment. In comparison, the <u>Irby</u> juror was almost benign in her not-uncommon tendency to believe witnesses like firefighters and police, a bias qualitatively different from the invidious racial sentiments expressed by Juror 10. This case presents stronger circumstances for reversal than Irby.

Importantly, the <u>Irby</u> case cannot be distinguished from this one on ground that <u>Irby</u> involved a defendant who was not present during *voir dire* and therefore was unable to dismiss the juror in that case. Irby's declining to seek removal of the juror in question was by choice, because he had invoked his right to represent himself, and then voluntarily chose not to attend any portion of trial including jury selection. <u>Irby</u>, at 190. In that case, and in this one, therefore, the defense had every legally available opportunity to shape the make-up of the jury and decide who sat on it, and in each case, therefore, arguably acquiesced in the jury that ultimately served, including the juror in question. But that was no obstacle to the <u>Irby</u> decision to deem the simple <u>presence</u> of the juror in question on the panel to be a violation of the constitutional right to an unbiased panel.

Further, this Court should be alarmed by the poor light in which our jury system might be cast, when even a single criminal conviction could be seen by the public to be the product of a trial record in which statements of racial bias can be found to have been uttered by the fact-finder. See State v. Sublett, 176 Wn. 2d 58, 72, 292 P.3d 715, 722 (2012) (the purpose of the right to a public trial is to allow the public to assess the fair workings of the justice system).

#### (ii). This Court must intervene and reverse.

The Washington courts have recognized that protection of the

fundamental values of our justice system may require doctrinal modification because of a compelling requirement to ensure fairness. See, e.g., State v. Monday, 171 Wn.2d 667, 680-81, 257 P.3d 551 (2011) (although defendants must show a "substantial likelihood that [prosecutorial] misconduct affected the verdict," if a defendant shows misconduct based on racial bias, it is the State's burden to show harmlessness beyond a reasonable doubt); In re Gentry, 179 Wn. 2d 614, 618, 316 P.3d 1020 (2014) (describing Monday as critically important to our justice system). This Court should grant review.

2. The court abused its discretion in admitting Ms. Phillips'

<u>Smith</u> affidavit in which she said she was punched and choked, where she testified she was wrongfully assaulted and merely could not recall these precise details, and where she disavowed the truth and reliability of the statement the police claimed to have accurately taken from her.

Review of this issue is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) because the Court of Appeals decision issued on December 17, 2018, is contrary to <u>State v. Smith</u>, 97 Wn.2d 856, 651 P.2d 207 (1982).

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