# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/13/2019 3:11 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

#### NOT YET ACCEPTED - PENDING MOTION

NO. 96779-2

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

### DAVID PHILLIPS,

Appellant.

#### STATE'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

JENNIFER P. JOSEPH Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

#

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

While Sara largely professed lack of memory, she also specifically denied certain of the allegations in her statement. Sara testified that Phillips did not hit her in the face or push her to the ground. RP 466, 468. She also seemed to deny that Phillips grabbed her arm and tried to push her down the stairs, stating when asked about that, "Like I told you, we were sitting there both tussling with each other – you know?" RP 469. Given Sara's reluctance to testify and her evasive responses, the trial court

had "concerns about whether there's a true lack of memory or a disinterest in participating fully in prosecution." RP 491.

The State moved to admit her written statement as a Smith<sup>4</sup> affidavit, allowing it to be considered as substantive evidence. The trial court reserved ruling until Deputy Spiewak testified about the circumstances of his taking the statement, and ultimately ruled that the written statement, redacted to omit reference to Phillips' drug use, would be admitted. RP 596.

#### D. THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

1. THE JUROR BIAS ISSUE DOES NOT MERIT REVIEW; THE RECORD ESTABLISHES NO ACTUAL BIAS.

Phillips seeks review of the trial court's failure to sua sponte remove a juror that neither party wanted to remove. He contends that a trial court's obligation to act on its own to remove a biased juror is a significant constitutional question warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(3). If the record demonstrated that Juror 10 harbored actual bias, Phillips would have a point. But as the record instead shows Juror 10 had a sophisticated understanding of implicit bias and was determined not to allow unchallenged prejudices to interfere with his duty as a juror, there was no actual bias. Accordingly, there was no reason for the trial court to

- 9 -

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> State v. Smith, 97 Wn.2d 856, 861, 651 P.2d 207 (1982).

act contrary to the parties' decision to keep Juror 10 on the panel, and no significant constitutional question is presented.

The Sixth Amendment guarantees criminal defendants the right to trial by an impartial jury. U.S. CONST. amend. VI; State v. Davis, 175 Wn.2d 287, 312, 290 P.3d 43 (2012). To effectuate this right, the trial court will excuse prospective jurors whose views would preclude or substantially hinder them in the performance of their duties in accordance with the court's instructions and the jurors' oath. State v. Gonzales, 111 Wn. App. 276, 277-78, 45 P.3d 205 (2002).

Either party may challenge a prospective juror for cause. RCW 4.44.130. In addition, Division One of the Court of Appeals has observed in the context of an absent, pro se defendant that "[a] trial judge has an independent obligation to protect [the constitutional right to an impartial jury], regardless of inaction by counsel or the defendant." State v. Irby, 187 Wn. App. 183, 193, 347 P.3d 1103 (2015), rev. denied, 184 Wn.2d 1036, 379 P.3d 953 (2016). Accordingly, "if the record demonstrates the actual bias of a juror, seating the biased juror was by definition a manifest error" of constitutional magnitude, warranting review under RAP 2.5(a)(3) despite failure to object below. Id. at 192-93. Allowing a biased juror to serve on a jury requires a new trial without a showing of prejudice. Id.

Actual bias is grounds to excuse a juror for cause. RCW 4.44.170(2). It exists when a juror demonstrates "a state of mind ... in reference to the action, or to either party, which satisfies the court that the challenged person cannot try the issue impartially and without prejudice to the substantial rights of the party challenging." <u>Id.</u>

Where a party does challenge a juror for cause, the trial court's ruling is reviewed for manifest abuse of discretion. State v. Lawler, 194 Wn. App. 275, 283, 374 P.3d 278 (2016). "The reason for this deference is that the trial judge is able to observe the juror's demeanor and, in light of that observation, to interpret and evaluate the juror's answers to determine whether the juror would be fair and impartial." Id. at 282 (quoting Davis, 175 Wn.2d at 312).

Phillips argues that Juror 10's comments about the "emotional imprint" he carries as the victim of an assault by an African American man established that he could not try the case impartially and without prejudice. But "the mere fact that a juror expresses or forms an opinion is not itself sufficient to sustain a challenge." <a href="Lawler">Lawler</a>, 194 Wn. App. at 281; RCW 4.44.190. Rather, "the court must be satisfied, from all the circumstances, that the juror cannot disregard such opinion and try the issue impartially." RCW 4.44.190.

Here, after candidly disclosing his emotional impressions, Juror 10 clearly and repeatedly stated that he would not allow these admittedly unjustified feelings to supersede his rational thought process. Juror 10 stated that "I don't live this way; I don't believe this[.]" RP 375. As a trained scientist, Juror 10 "hold[s] it as a personal principle to be fair and objective[.]" Id. Although he felt it important to disclose his "emotional truths," he believed that he "could hear and see what happens in this trial fairly and objectively." Id. He denied that he would simply accept the State's allegations absent proof, and denied that his feelings would "tip the scale" even though the allegations involved violence by an African American man. RP 376, 378-79. Importantly, Juror 10 agreed that being aware of his biases allowed him to consciously counteract their impact. RP 379.

With respect to the "emotional truth" of his strong feelings about domestic violence, Juror 10 reiterated, "I understand and ascribe to the principal [sic] that it must be the merits of the situation and the evidence and the stories that are presented here that need to establish what the reality is in this particular case." RP 380. When asked whether he would like a juror like himself on his jury if he was charged with domestic violence, he expressed confidence "in terms of what I know I bring to the table with the ability and intent to be objective and fair," despite

acknowledging that "emotion inevitably plays into who we are as humans[.]" RP 381. Finally, when asked whether he was comfortable taking the juror's oath and following the law as instructed by the judge, Juror 10 was unequivocal: "Absolutely." RP 381.

Juror 10's candid responses during voir dire do not evince an inability to disregard his predispositions and try the case impartially. Rather, they demonstrate exactly the sort of consciousness of and willingness to confront implicit bias that many courts have recently encouraged.<sup>5</sup>

This case is not like Irby, on which Phillips relies. There, Division One held that the trial court erred by failing to sua sponte excuse a juror who demonstrated actual bias, in the unusual circumstance where the pro se defendant absented himself from jury selection. 187 Wn. App. at 196-97. The juror in that case explained she might not be fair because she was "more inclined towards the prosecution" and "would like to say [the defendant] is guilty." Id. at 190. There was no follow up, and the juror

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> For example, federal district courts in Western Washington use a video and jury instructions to educate prospective jurors about implicit or unconscious bias and the importance of making conscious efforts to counteract bias. The video and accompanying jury instructions can be found at: <a href="http://www.wawd.uscourts.gov/jury/unconscious-bias">http://www.wawd.uscourts.gov/jury/unconscious-bias</a> (last visited 1/14/2018). See also Judge Theresa Doyle, "U.S. District Court Produces Video, Drafts Jury Instructions on Implicit Bias," Bar Bulletin, King County Bar Ass'n (April 2017), available at <a href="https://www.kcba.org/">https://www.kcba.org/</a> kcba/newsevents/barbulletin/BView.aspx?Month=04&Year=2017&AID=article11.htm (last visited 1/16/2018).

was seated. Division One regarded the juror's statements as "an unqualified statement expressing actual bias," and held that seating the juror was manifest constitutional error. Id. at 188.

Unlike in <u>Irby</u>, Juror 10's answers expressed no inability to be fair. At worst, his answers suggest that he was unsure whether he could be objective given his acknowledged emotional predispositions. Unlike in <u>Irby</u>, defense counsel actively participated in voir dire; indeed, it was defense counsel's rehabilitating questioning that produced Juror 10's unequivocal commitment to confront his feelings and consider the case fairly and objectively. Thus, when Phillips accepted the panel with Juror 10 on it and one peremptory challenge remaining, the trial court could reasonably conclude that Phillips wanted Juror 10 to serve on the jury.

<u>See Lawler</u>, 194 Wn. App. 275, 288-89, 374 P.3d 278 (2016) (urging trial courts to be cautious about intruding on jury selection absent clear bias; noting that defendant's failure to exhaust peremptory challenges leads to a presumption that defendant was satisfied with the jury).

Juror 10 did not demonstrate actual bias. He instead demonstrated a relatively sophisticated understanding of the idea of implicit bias and the determination not to allow it to interfere with his duty as a juror to be fair and impartial, to base his decision on the evidence presented, and to follow the court's instructions on the law. Since both parties apparently

wanted Juror 10 on the jury, there was no reason for the trial court to intervene to remove him. The case presents no constitutional question. This Court should deny review.

2. THE SMITH AFFIDAVIT WAS PROPERLY ADMITTED, ENTIRELY CONSISTENT WITH EXISTING COURT OF APPEALS AND SUPREME COURT DECISIONS.

Phillips argues that the trial court abused its discretion by admitting Sara's <u>Smith</u> affidavit. He variously argues that Sara "did not testify inconsistently with the <u>Smith</u> affidavit" and that she "expressly disavowed the statement" in her testimony. The record demonstrates that Sara's affidavit bears the minimal guarantees of truthfulness required by <u>Smith</u>, and that her testimony was inconsistent with the affidavit with respect to the nature of the altercation, Phillips' specific conduct, and Sara's ability to remember. The Court of Appeals correctly concluded there was no abuse of discretion.

Under ER 801(d)(1), prior inconsistent statements by nonparty witnesses may be admitted as substantive evidence if the statements were "given under oath subject to the penalty of perjury at a trial, hearing, or other proceeding, or in a deposition." A statement given to police during an investigation into alleged criminal activity can be such an "other proceeding." State v. Otton, 185 Wn.2d 673, 690, 374 P.3d 1108 (2016).

A four-factor test guides the trial court's determination whether such a statement is sufficiently reliable. <u>Id.</u> at 688, 689. Among other things, the test requires consideration of "whether there were minimal guaranties of truthfulness." <u>Otton</u>, 185 Wn.2d at 680 (quoting <u>State v. Thach</u>, 126 Wn. App. 297, 308, 106 P.3d 782 (2005)).

#### a. Minimal Guarantees Of Truthfulness.

Phillips contends that Sara's statement should not have been admitted because it lacks minimal guarantees of truthfulness. He points to the fact that the statement was written by an officer rather than Sara herself and contained the officer's interpretation of her words rather than a verbatim account. But where a witness testifies that she gave a statement and voluntarily signed it, "the mere fact that [she] did not write the statement herself" does not render the statement unreliable. State v.

Nelson, 74 Wn. App. 380, 389, 874 P.2d 170 (1994).

Sara testified that she signed the statement after speaking with the officer. The signature, date, and place of execution lines appear immediately below the line stating "I certify (or declare) under penalty of perjury, under the laws of the State of Washington, that the foregoing is true and correct." CP 412. This language satisfies statutory requirements for treating an unsworn statement as a sworn one. Nelson, 74 Wn. App. at 389-90; RCW 9A.72.085. Deputy Spiewak testified that he wrote down

what Sara reported and read it back to her, including the perjury warning, before she signed the statement. RP 529, 541. Sara's report of being grabbed by the arm and throat is also consistent with her report to the EMT and with the EMT's observation of trauma to her neck, with Spiewak's observations documented on the supplemental domestic violence form, and with photos showing what the defense expert described as "blunt force injury" in these areas. RP 531-33, 624-25, 694-701.

Further, Sara essentially affirmed the accuracy of the account provided in her written statement outside of the jury's presence. She explained that she did not want to testify and argued there was no point in her testifying about the incident because "you guys have a written statement for that[.]" RP 445. Once the judge explained that "typically written statements can't be used as evidence," Sara had no further questions and proceeded to testify. RP 445, 455. When asked to tell the jury what she remembered, Sara referred to the statement and said "like I said before, if that's what you want to go off of, here it is." RP 465-65. Under the circumstances, the trial court reasonably concluded that Sara's remarks indicated that "she didn't wish to testify further because the statement sort of says what it says and includes all of the information that she has to share." RP 491. The record demonstrates that Sara's detailed

statement to police immediately following the assault bears sufficient guarantees of truthfulness.

b. Sara's Testimony Was Sufficiently Inconsistent With Her *Smith* Affidavit.

Phillips also contends that the <u>Smith</u> affidavit was inadmissible because it was not "inconsistent with the declarant's testimony" as required under ER 801(1)(d)(i). He argues that Sara's testimony that she did not recall whether or not Phillips choked her is not sufficiently "inconsistent" with her written statement describing those events. The record supports the trial court's conclusion that Sara feigned her lack of memory; this, combined with her direct contradiction of certain assertions in her statement, rendered the statement sufficiently inconsistent for purposes of ER 801(d)(1)(i).

Although Sara claimed not to remember being choked, her memory was fine with respect to the events before and after the assault. She recalled that she argued with Phillips, that he told her not to touch the baby when she wanted to breastfeed her, that she told Joe'll to call the police if the argument escalated, and that the argument became physical. RP 462, 465. Moreover, although she claimed that she did not recall Phillips putting his hands around her neck, she *did* remember telling the police that he grabbed her neck for a minute and she felt like she would

pass out. RP 469. Additionally, she did not say she did not remember whether other parts of the assault occurred; instead, she specifically recanted her prior statement that Phillips punched her, slapped her, or pushed her to the ground. RP 466, 468.

The trial court noted that Sara's specific contradictions were "clearly inconsistent" with her prior statement. RP 488. Further, Sara's inconsistent statements and implausible memory lapses gave the trial court "concerns about whether there's a true lack of memory or a disinterest in participating fully in prosecution." RP 491. The trial court considered the matter carefully:

Given the detailed nature of the statement; given the relative recency of the events; given the allusion, at least, to the fact by Ms. Phillips-Suffia that she didn't wish to testify further because the statement sort of says what it says and includes all of the information that she has to share; and given the sort of severe and traumatic nature of these allegations, if proven, the Court finds that this is an appropriate case for the Court to allow impeachment by a prior inconsistent statement.

RP 492-92.

The record supports the trial court's conclusion that Sara's statement was sufficiently inconsistent with her trial testimony to justify admission under ER 801(d)(1). There was no abuse of discretion. Phillips does not show how the trial court's discretionary call in this case is

inconsistent with precedent from this Court or the Court of Appeals. This Court should deny review.

### E. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the petition for review should be denied.